# CBR から CBID へ

マヤ・トーマス博士

『変われば変わるほど、変わらない』 (ジャン=バプティスト・アルフォンス・カー、1808-1890)

### 目次

はじめに	4
CBR と CBID	4
必要性 - 1981 年~現在	
縦展開か横展開か?	
ミレニアム開発目標(MDG)から持続可能な開発目標(S	
CBR の妥当性の検証を継続していくこと	
新たな問題	
高齢化	
ニュー・アーバン・アジェンダ(New Urban Agenda)	
社会保障	
結論	
Contents	
Introduction	26
CBR and CBID	26
The need - 1981 to date	
Vertical or horizontal?	
MDG to SDG	36
The continued relevance of CBR	38
Emerging issues	
Ageing	
New Urban Agenda	41
Social Protection	
Conclusion	48
参考文献(References)	48

#### はじめに

本稿では、地域に根ざしたリハビリテーション(Community-based Rehabilitation: CBR)と地域に根ざしたインクルーシブ開発(Community-based Inclusive Development:CBID)について検討し、過去30年間の障害と開発の分野におけるニーズと課題への対応について考察する。更に、進歩も変化もあるにもかかわらず、ある事柄についてはまったく変化も見られないことについて論じ、今後のインクルーシブ開発の計画において、関係当事者が認識する必要のある現状および今後の課題について言及する。

#### CBR & CBID

「地域に根ざしたインクルーシブ開発(Community Based Inclusive Development: CBID)」という用語は「地域に根ざしたリハビリテーション(Community Based Rehabilitation: CBR)」に代わる用語として、より広く使用されてきているように見える。これまで「アジア太平洋 CBR 会議」は3回開催されたが、今年開催された第4回会議は「アジア太平洋 CBID 会議」と呼ばれる。2015年9月に日本で開催された第3回アジア太平洋 CBR 会議の「インクルーシブ開発(CBID)宣言」では、「地域に根ざしたリハビリテーション(CBR)/地域に根ざしたインクルーシブ開発(CBID あるいは CBR として知られる)」と併記されている。一部の国際支援機関は、CBR マトリックスの構成要素(コンポーネント)である保健、教育、生計、社会、エンパワメントに関するアプローチに対して「CBID」という用語で説明している。一方、CBRは身体的リハビリテーションに焦点を当てたもので、CBID は社

会的および環境的側面に取り組むものであるという立場を取る 支援機関もある。

このことからいくつかの疑問が生じている。「CBID は CBR の新しい用語なのか?」「この 2 つの用語は同義語と見なせるのか?」「CBID は障害者のみならず、コミュニティ内のすべての疎外されたグループを含む、はるかに広い概念と見なすべきなのか?」「CBID はかつて提唱されていたツイントラックアプローチからメインストリーミングというシングルトラックアプローチに移行したのか?」といったことだ。

世界保健機関(WHO)の CBR ガイドライン(2010 年)には「CBR ガイドライン:地域に根ざしたインクルーシブ開発に向けて」というタイトルがつけられているように、CBR はインクルーシブ開発を達成するための戦略であるということを示されている。導入ブックレットの序文では「ガイドラインは、障害者の権利に関する条約、および障害を含む国内法の施行に貢献し、地域に根ざしたインクルーシブ開発を支援する戦略として CBR を促進する」と述べられている。

2011 年、私は「CBID は、障害者を含むすべての疎外された グループが組み入れられたコミュニィテを作るための目的や目標であり、達成すべき最終結果でもある」と主張した。ジェンダー、障害、民族、難民、セクシュアリティやその他のいかなる理由があろうとも、誰も開発から排除されてはならない。コミュニティ内の他の利益グループ(ジェンダーなど)が自分たちの構成員を開発に組みこむために自分たちの戦略を使うように、CBR は障害者のための地域に根ざしたインクルーシブ開発という目標達成のためのツールあるいは戦略である。

「CBRでは、すべての障害者をインクルージョンする開発の試みにおいて、参加型コミュニティ開発の原則である、社会正義、自己決定、社会参加、および自省を用いる。CBRは「ツイントラック」アプローチを使用し、地域に根ざしたインクルーシブ開発の目標を達成する。

- 1)障害者とともに、彼ら/彼女らの能力を高め、特別なニーズに対応し、平等な機会と権利を確保し、すべての開発プロセスに彼ら/彼女らがインクルージョンされるようにするため自ら権利擁護できるよう支援する。
- 2) 障害者を排除するバリアを取り除くためにコミュニティおよび 一般社会と協力し、障害者がコミュニティの他の人々と同じよう にすべての開発の恩恵を享受できるようにする。

「様々な脆弱なグループとともに活動する様々な関係当事者が地域に根ざしたインクルーシブ開発と同じ目標達成を目指しているコミュニティでは、リソースと機会を最大限に活用し、インクルージョンの権利を擁護するより大きな声を集めるために、CBR はそういうグループとの連携を築く必要がある。CBR では、他の脆弱なグループのニーズが明らかでない場合、日常生活等の場面でそういうグループを含める方法がないかを検討する必要がある」(トーマス、2011)。

CBR ガイドラインの公開からほぼ 10 年が経過しており、混乱 と誤解を避けるために、各国で実施されている本質的に同様な 活動において異なる用語を使用することの必要性と理論的根拠 について、さらなる議論が急がれる。

#### 必要性 - 1981 年~現在

1981 年、WHO 障害予防とリハビリテーションに関する専門委員会(WHO Expert Committee on Disability Prevention and Rehabilitation )は、リハビリテーションの提供はコミュニティサービス、特に初期医療(プライマリーヘルスケア)を通して行ない、国の保健医療制度や他の関連部門に統合するよう開発途上国に勧告した(WHO、1981)。同委員会はこれらの国では、特に農村や周縁地域ではリハビリテーションを十分利用できないことを強調し、ギャップを埋めるための戦略の一つとして、照会と支援システムに裏打ちされた CBR を提案した。当時、人事、財政、技術、政府の政策とコミットメント、さまざまな分野間での調査研究や調整における課題も指摘された。

それ以来 30 年以上にわたって、途上国では、法律や政策、 政府の支援、サービスの範囲、人材開発、実践に基づいた証明、そして自分たちの権利を擁護する障害者団体の発展などに おいて多くの進歩があった。

しかしながら、障害に関する世界報告書(World Report on Disaility,2011)によると、1981 年に指摘されたリハビリテーションに関する課題のほとんどが今でも続いているというのである。同報告書では、障害者の教育や雇用が遅れており、医療ケアが利用できず、社会的、文化的、政治的参加から孤立する傾向があり、また障害者のいる家族の貧困率が高いという事実を強調している。近年における他の研究では、医療やリハビリテーションサービスが限られている農村地域では障害者の大部分が貧困の中で生活していることを示している。貧困とその結果生じる不十分な医療、また医療を受ける機会の不足、意識の欠如、劣悪

な衛生環境、伝染病は、これらの国々における機能障害や能力 障害の最大の要因であり続けている。

2017 年、WHO の「リハビリテーション 2030 - 行動への呼びかけ」(Rehabilitation 2030 --- a Call for Action)会議は、世界中の、特に低・中所得国におけるリハビリテーションの不足という深刻なニーズに注目し、高齢化、病気、怪我に関連する健康と人口動態の変化に伴いリハビリテーションサービスの需要は増加し続けていくであろうと指摘した。同会議では、リハビリテーションを強化するための行動項目が提案されたが、内容の多くは1981 年勧告に類似している。

同様に「発達障害共同研究者に関するグローバル研究」 (Global Research on Developmental Disabilities Collaborators) は、195 の国と地域における 1990 年から 2016 年までの 5 歳未 満の子どもの発達障害に関する論文を最近公開した。

この研究では、低・中所得国では発達障害者に関する負担が 不均衡に高いことを指摘している。また、障害の根本的な原因を 以下のように述べている。視力喪失につながる目の屈折と調節 障害、難聴につながる中耳炎と先天性障害、早産による合併 症、感染症、知的障害につながる出生時仮死を含む先天性障 害および新生児障害、てんかんにつながる新生児障害である。 研究では、有病率が最も高い地域、特に資源の少ない地域に 認められる発達障害の主な原因と影響を特定することの緊急性 も指摘している。この研究では、「1990年以降、発達障害による 世界的な負担は大きく改善していないことから、特にサハラ以南 のアフリカと南アジアを中心とした、児童の生存のためのプログ ラムの結果として幼児期を生き延びた子どもの生育に対する世 界的な注意喚起が不十分であることを指摘できる。」と結論付けている。

2018 年 7 月に英国で開催されたグローバル障害サミット (Global Disability Summit)で示された「変革のための憲章 (Charter for Change)」には 10 の行動項目があり、そのうち 2 つは子どもの発達障害の問題に関連している。 項目 8 では「『誰一人取り残さない。』そして、最も置き去りにされがちな人を優先することを述べている。あらゆる形態の重複した差別を受けた、すべての年齢層においてほとんど取り上げられない、疎外された障害者、中でも障害のある女性と少女の権利を守る」としている。一方、項目 9 では、「より精度の高いデータと証言を収集、使用し、『ワシントン・グループの障害に関する質問 (Washington Group Disability Question Sets)』のような試験済みのツールを使用して、障害者が直面する課題の規模と特徴を理解し対応する」としている。

障害者が健康管理とリハビリテーションへアクセスできるよう になるための方法として、CBR が再び重要になるのは以上のよ うなことと関連している。

障害に関する世界報告書(第3章:一般的健康管理:General Health Care)は、低・中所得国の中でも所得の低い国における 障害者と家族のヘルスケアサービスへのアクセスを促進する上で CBR の役割を認めている。また、報告書はリハビリテーション に関する第4章(Chapter 4 on Rehabilitation)で、資源が不十分で能力を活かせないような環境では、CBR を通してコミュニティでのサービス提供を加速することに重点を置くべきであり、そ

れに2次的サービスへの照会を加えて補完することを推奨している。

「WHO 世界障害行動計画(WHO global disability plan) 2014-2021: すべての障害者のより良い健康」の3つの目標のうち、2番目はリハビリテーション、ハビリテーション、支援機器、支援とサポートサービス、地域に根ざしたリハビリテーションの強化と拡大である。

アジア太平洋地域の国々(中国、ベトナム、ラオス、インドなど)での経験により、CBRが障害者と家族のために、早期発見および介入、照会、コミュニティレベルでのフォローアップ、家庭に根ざしたリハビリテーションの提供や、教育支援、心の支えなどの支援サービスの組織化、および地方自治体を含むコミュニティを動かすことにおいて重要な役割を果たし得ることを示した。これは政府、市民社会、障害者団体からの支援を受けて、コミュニティレベルから地方および国家レベルで分権化されたサービスや照会のネットワークを構築することにより達成される。

さまざまな国の過去の CBR の経験と教訓は、「リハビリテーション 2030 - 行動への呼びかけ」に関する今後の実践に役立つであろう。世界中の関係当事者と政府はリハビリテーションの計画にあたり、このことを考慮する必要がある。

#### 縦展開か横展開か?

CBR は、30 年前に最初に提唱された時、縦展開プログラムとしてプライマリーヘルスケアシステムに統合されることを提案された。その後、CBR が進化するにつれて、インクルージョン、参

加、権利に基づくアプローチなどの概念が重要な目標になった。これにより CBR は単一セクターの縦展開プログラムから、横展開の包括的な、マルチセクタープログラムに変化した。 ILO、UNESCO および WHO による共同政策方針 (Joint Position Paper, 2004 年) は、この変化をうまく捉えている。その後、WHO、UNESCO、ILO、IDDC の CBR マトリックスと CBR ガイドライン (2011 年) は、CBR が包括的かつ横展開プログラムに進展する可能性を示唆していた。

CBR 戦略によるインクルーシブ開発の目的には、包括的な横展開プログラムが必要であり、単一セクターの縦展開プログラムでは達成できない。横展開プログラムには、政府の政策や予算、インフラ、訓練を受けた人材と資材、マルチセクターの調整の仕組みなど様々な資源が備わっていることが必要である。このような資源が適切に配置されていれば、横展開プログラムは費用対効果が高く、持続可能になる。更に重要なことは、CBRプログラムが低所得国において農村や周縁地、都市の貧しいコミュニティに住む障害者が利用できることで効果を発揮したように、横展開プログラムは、サービスを最も必要としている人々に届く。ただし横展開プログラムの運営は様々なセクターの関係当事者がいるため複雑になっている。多くの場合、結果は必ずしもきちんと評価したり測定したりできない。

逆説的に言えば、横展開プログラムの必要性が最も高い低所得国では、このようなプログラムを支援するために利用できる資源が不十分なのである。CBRにおいて長年にわたってうまく継続されてきた横展開プログラムの多くは、当該国政府ではなく、国外の寄付者からの支援によって維持されてきた。支援の終

了によりこれらのプログラムは閉鎖または縮小され、その多くが 単一セクターのプログラムになった。

近年、一部の国の包括的 CBR プログラムは、主に支援者の優先順位によって、教育や生計などの単一セクターの選択に焦点が当てられて縦展開プログラムに近くなる。縦展開プログラムは、結果がより早くわかり、横展開プログラムよりも一般的に管理が容易で、もともとトップダウン型でありターゲット駆動型であるため、支援者にとっては魅力的である。ただし、維持管理コストが高く短期的な解決しかもたらさないこともある。

障害と開発に関する横展開アプローチと縦展開アプローチは、対角線上で対立しているように見えるが、現在、これらのアプローチを統合する可能性と「対角線(diagonal)」アプローチの必要性が議論されている。CBRにおいては、教育やコミュニティ生活といった縦展開の単一セクタープログラムから始めることを意味しており、その方が資金を得やすいかもしれない。その後、政府や市民社会の関係者など、同じコミュニティの別分野のキーパースンたちとのパートナーシップを持つことが必要である。現行の支援を継続するためには、CBRとインクルーシブ開発の重要性および実施に必要な戦略について、支援者とともに、さまざまなセクターの関係者やパートナーを教育する必要がある。

理想的には、横もしくは縦展開プログラムのいずれを選択するかは、支援者の優先度によってではなく、プログラムが計画されているコミュニティのニーズによって決められるべきである。低・中所得国では支援者主導による持続不可能なプログラムがあまりにも多く見られる。 CBR とインクルーシブ開発プログラムは、政府、障害者団体、障害者や支援者グループなどの主要な

関係者が協力し、インクルーシブ開発の目標が適切かつ持続的な方法で達成できるようにしない限り、同じ道を進む危険性がある。

#### ミレニアム開発目標(MDG)から持続可能な開発目標(SDG)へ

「持続可能な開発目標報告(The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2017)」では、持続可能な開発のための 2030 アジェンダ(2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development) 実施の 2 年目に 17 の目標の進捗状況を確認している。最新の入手可能なデータに基づくこの報告は、2030 アジェンダの完全な実施における成果と課題の両方を示している。

この報告書では、過去 10 年間にすべての開発分野でかなりの進歩があったが、これまでの進歩ペースでは、2030 年までに持続可能な開発目標(SDG)を完全に達成するには不十分であろう、と指摘している。いくつかの重要な指標に関して「1999 年以降、10 億人近くが極度の貧困から脱却したが、2013 年には約7億6,700 万人がいまだに貧困状態にあり、そのほとんどが脆弱な状況に置かれている。大きな進歩があったにもかかわらず、5 歳未満の子どもたちの多くが栄養不良の影響を受けている。2016 年には5 歳未満の推定1億5500 万人の子供が発育不良である(年齢に対して身長が低い)。2000 年から2015 年の間に、世界の妊産婦死亡率は37%低下し、5 歳未満の死亡率は44%低下した。しかし2015 年には、世界中で303,000 人の女性が妊娠中または出産時に死亡し、590 万人の子供が5 才未満で死亡した」と述べている。

報告書によると、発展は常に公平に起きたわけではない。地域、性別、年齢、収入、都市と農村を含む居住地により異なっていた。アントニオ・グテーレス国連事務総長は報告書の序文で次のように述べている。「実施は始まったが、時は刻々と過ぎていく。この報告は、多くの分野での進捗率が 2030 年の目標達成に必要な速度よりもはるかに遅いことを示している。」

ミレニアム開発目標(MDG)の進捗状況に関する以前の報告は、現在と非常によく似ており、政府や関係者、特に持続可能な開発目標(SDG)の対象となる人々にとって、懸念の材料となっている。SDG の重要な原則は「誰一人取り残さない」である。SDG を達成するための現在の進捗のペースが十分でなければ、障害者を含む多くの疎外されたグループの人々が再び取り残される可能性がある。

この報告書により、SDGを実現するために各国政府がより一層努力し資源を確保することに拍車がかかることが望まれる。 障害者を代表する組織を含む市民社会グループは、SDG のより迅速かつ効果的な実施を提唱するために努力を集中することが必要である。

#### CBR の妥当性の検証を継続していくこと

\_障害に関する世界報告書(2011)は、CBR を「障害者のサービス、機会、参加とインクルージョンにアクセスするための重要な対応の一つ」と認めている。

CBR ガイドライン(2010)では CBR の成果は「障害者の自立の増加、移動の拡大、コミュニケーションスキルの大いなる向

上、障害者と家族の収入の増加、自尊心の向上、社会的インクルージョンの拡大」に表れているとまとめている。

世界のさまざまな地域での評価研究では、障害者の生活を変える上での CBR の役割を実証している。

CBR の実施において得られた重要な教訓には次のようなことが含まれている、それは、CBR の活動範囲を調整し各部門間の協力を促進するために中心となって調整する国レベルの機関の連携が重要であることである。具体的には包括的 CBR を促進するための政府と市民社会の連携、既存のプライマリーヘルスケアシステムとコミュニティレベルのリハビリテーション活動の結合、CBR プログラム開始時からさまざまな関係当事者への啓発とアドボカシー、自助グループや障害者団体の活動促進、コミュニティレベルでの CBR スタッフの効果的なスーパービジョンおよびガイダンスと訓練、また、段階的に行う国内の CBR 担当計画の必要性が必要である(トーマス、2015 年)。

アジア地域でのこれまでの CBR の経験の中には、CBR の持続性を保つ優れた実践が示されているものがある。 CBR の主要な関係当事者である障害者の自助グループおよび関連団体は、プログラムの持続に貢献している。これらのグループが女性団体など、成功した地域に根ざした別の組織と提携することも有効である。地方自治体、親および CBR スタッフとの協力により CBR 活動がうまく継続した例がいくつか報告されている。また障害者が地方レベルの開発評議会に含まれることで、障害の課題を開発計画に含むことができる。コミュニティレベルのボランティア(高齢者、雇用を求めてコミュニティを離れることのない退職者)も活動の持続性に貢献していることが報告されている。ま

た、プロジェクトの実施中にボランティアがコミュニティで認められ、プロジェクトの契約期間終了後も活動を継続し拡大していることが多い。

#### 新たな問題

近年、CBR が検討し対処すべき新たな課題が議論されている。ユンワー(2012)は、アジア太平洋地域に関連して次のような課題を挙げている。それらは急激な都市化、非感染性疾患の発生率の増加、災害と気候変動、高齢者の増加などによる人口動態の変化、および、貧困と食糧供給に影響を与えうる経済的課題である。

#### 高齢化

障害者グループに占める高齢者の割合が不釣り合いに多い 国もある。一方、より良い医療ケアを享受することにより多くの 障害者の寿命が延びたが、他方では障害のない人が長生きす ることで高齢者人口における老化に伴う障害およびその他の障 害の発生率を高めている。80歳以上の高齢者は、世界的に急 速に増加している年齢層の1つである。低・中所得国における 障害者が直面するすべての課題である、サービスにアクセスす ることの障壁、特に農村地域におけるニーズに基づいたサービ スの可用性と支払い能力、訓練された職員の不足は、今後、高 齢化する障害者にとっても課題となるであろう。従来の家族構造 の変化により、地域社会における介護者が不足し、支援システ ムの利用が難しくなると課題は更に複雑になる。一部の低・中所 得国では、高齢化が進むことにより家族の中で、若者が多くの 高齢者を支えなければならない状況が生じている。 障害のある高齢者の医療やリハビリテーションにおけるさまざまなニーズに対処ために過重な費用がかかる場合がある。低・中所得国における CBR プログラムは、地域の障害のある高齢者のニーズに応える費用対効果の高い対応として考えられる。それは、CBR プログラムが、長年に渡り障害のある子どもや若者のインクルージョンや参加を促進するために家族やコミュニティと協力してきた経験があるからである。一部の国では、CBR プログラムはすでにこの方向に向かっている。例えば、脳卒中の高齢者に対する在宅リハビリテーション活動、家族への教育やカウンセリング、所得創出の機会提供などである。

#### ニュー・アーバン・アジェンダ(New Urban Agenda)

国連人間居住計画(UN Habitat)(2016年)では、今日、全世界の都市の面積は全陸地の約2%に過ぎないと推定している。しかし、GDPの70%、エネルギー消費の60%以上、温室効果ガス排出量の70%、世界の廃棄物の70%は都市に集中している。

急速に進む都市化に関する課題を認識し、関係者は 2016 年 10 月にエクアドルのキトにニュー・アーバン・アジェンダを採択するために参集した。持続可能な都市と人間の居住に関するキト宣言(Quito Declaration on Sustainable Cities and Human Settlements for All)によると、「2050 年までに世界の都市人口はほぼ 2 倍になり、都市化は 21 世紀の最も劇的に変容する潮流の 1 つになる。人口、経済活動、社会的・文化的交流、環境及び人道的影響が都市に集中するにつれて、住宅、インフラ、基本サービス、食料の安定供給、保健、教育、適切な仕事、安

全や天然資源など、膨大な持続可能性に係る問題を発生させる」と述べている。

キト宣言は行動への呼びかけの1つとして次のように述べている。「特に女性と少女、子どもと若者、障害者、HIV / AIDS 感染者、高齢者、先住民、地域社会、スラムやインフォーマルな居住者、ホームレス、労働者、零細農民や漁民、難民、帰還者、国内避難民、及び、異なる状況の移民に対する様々な差別に対応することが必要である。」

障害者権利条約(CRPD)締約国会議の第 10 回セッションが 2017 年 6 月 13 日から 15 日まで開催された。その主要テーマ は「障害者権利条約(CRPD)の第2の 10 年:条約実施における 障害者と彼らを代表する組織のインクルージョンと完全参加」であった。サブテーマは次の通りである。

- ・障害者に対する様々な差別に対処し、障害者権利条約 (CRPD)に沿って持続可能な開発目標(SDG)を達成するための 行動への参加と様々な関係者とのパートナーシップを促進す る。
  - ・人道的活動への障害者のインクルージョンと完全参加
- ・インクルーシブな都市開発及びニュー・アーバン・アジェンダの実施の促進 国連人間居住計画 III。

CBR とインクルーシブ開発に関して以前入手可能だった情報の多くは、農村コミュニティでの取組みに基づいている。しかし、過去20年にわたって、アジア、アフリカの都市における貧困地域の障害者と取り組むプログラムからの報告があった。低・中所得国の都市における貧困地域では、CBR とインクルーシブ開発

活動の計画と管理において意味するものはこれらの農村地域とは多くの点で異なる。

都市部のスラムの大部分は仕事を求めて農村部から流入した者で構成されている。このようなコミュニティは、言語、民族、文化の面で本質的に多彩な傾向が見受けられる。多くのグループは外部からの季節的な流入者や、雇用を求めて同一都市内を移動する者で成り立つ浮動人口である。農村部の大部分は農業経済であるが、都市のスラムはインフォーマルな、もしくは未組織の事業所で働く未熟練労働者が圧倒的に多い。住民が集中せず、時にはお互いの距離が非常に離れている農村部に比べて、都市部のスラムでは人口密度が高い。農村コミュニティとは異なり、都市のスラムの構成者は主に核家族である。

CBR とインクルーシブ開発のためにコミュニティを組織化し人を動かすことは、都市貧困コミュニティにおいてはより困難であり、それは、一時的居住、社会問題、拡大家族による支援の欠如、公式または伝統的な構造とリーダーシップの欠如のためであると報告されている。多くの場合、都市の CBR では家族の求める優先的ニーズは財政支援である。

低・中所得国の都市部は、農村部に比べてインフラや情報通信設備が優れている。また、教育、保健医療、技術訓練、雇用の機会などの、CBRに関連するサービスの可用性も向上しているが、貧困や意識不足のため、これらのサービス享受のチャンスが制限される場合がある。

ニュー・アーバン・アジェンダは、他の社会的に疎外されているグループとともに、障害者が直面する差別に取り組む必要性

を認めている。将来の CBR 計画ではインクルーシブ開発の計画、実施および提言においてニュー・アーバン・アジェンダおよび持続可能な開発目標(SDG)などのフレームワークを理解し、使用する必要がある。

#### 社会保障

世界銀行、ILO、アジア開発銀行などのさまざまな国際機関によって定義されている「社会保障」は、人々が一生を通じて直面する困難に対し貧困と脆弱性を軽減し、人々が経済的および社会的困難に対処できるようにする政策と措置を指す。

多くの国々には、一般の人々を対象としたプログラム、または障害者を対象とした特定のプログラムを介して障害のある人々とその家族に社会保障を提供する政策がある。低・中所得国における障害者に対する社会保障政策では、障害者を、収入を得るすべがなく、「保護」を必要とする慈善の対象と見なす傾向がある。国の政策は「就労不能」を補うための基本レベルの支援の提供に重点を置きがちである。しかし、これは実際には求職する意欲を失わせる可能性があり、障害者に対する慈善と福祉のアプローチを永続させるだけのことになりがちである。このような社会保障の狭い考え方は、障害者のコミュニティへのインクルージョンと参加とそれを可能にする平等な機会を障害者に提供する権利ベースの見解を提唱した障害運動の関係者によって批判されてきた。

これに関して障害者権利条約(CRPD)は、権利に基づく社会保障のより広範な理解を得る上で重要な役割を果たしてきた。

CRPD 第 28 条の「十分な生活水準及び社会保障」は次のように 規定している。

- 1. 締約国は、障害者が、自己及びその家族の十分な生活水準 (十分な食糧、衣類及び住居を含む。)についての権利並び に生活条件に関する継続的な改善についての権利を有する ことを認めるものとし、障害に基づく差別なしにこの権利を実 現することを保障し、及び促進するための適当な措置をと る。
- 2. 締約国は、社会保障についての障害者の権利及び障害に基づく差別なしにこの権利を享受することについての障害者の権利を認めるものとし、この権利の実現を保障し、及び促進するための適当な措置をとる。(外務省訳)

健康管理、教育、雇用へのアクセス、またはコミュニティでの 自立した生活などの他の主要な権利とともに、社会保障を享受 する権利は、障害者のエンパワメントと持続可能な開発目標 (SDG)の実現に貢献する。

CBR ガイドライン(2010 年)は、社会保障の重要性を認め、 CBR に「障害者のメインストリーミングや特定の社会手当へのアクセスを促進し、社会保障措置の提供を促進する」よう求めている。

しかし、世界的には社会保障を享受できる人々の範囲は十分ではない。「世界社会保障報告 2017/19:持続可能な開発目標を達成するための普遍的社会保障(Universal social protection)」によれば、世界人口の中で少なくとも1つの社会手当によって効果的に保護されている人々は45%のみであり、残

りの 55%の約 40 億人は保護されていない状況にある。報告は世界人口の 29%のみが包括的な社会保障を享受しているが、他の 71%の 52 億人は全く享受していないか部分的にしか享受していないと述べている。障害者との関連では、報告の調査結果は世界中の重度障害者の 27.8 パーセントのみが障害給付を受けていることを示している。また、この報告は特にアフリカ、アジア、アラブ諸国においてすべての人々が何らかの基本的な社会保障を享受できるよう政府支出の増額を呼び掛けている。

今日、各国際機関は障害者に関する政策の枠組みにおける優先事項の1つとして社会保障に焦点を当てている。英国国際開発省(DFID)の「障害者インクルーシブな開発2018-2023」の戦略には、戦略的柱としての社会保障があり、より多くの障害者インクルーシブな社会保障システムを提唱する必要性を強調し、世界的および国家的な注目と支援を高めインクルーシブな社会保障に関するエビデンスベースを構築し、より多くのデータ分析を推進する。

2019 年 9 月、世界銀行とILO は他の主要な開発機関と協力 して、第 71 回国連総会において「普遍的社会保障に向けたグロ ーバルパートナーシップ(Global Partnership for Universal Social Protection)」を発表する。

障害者、特に低・中所得国の CBR およびインクルーシブな開発プログラムに関与する障害者と協力者は、現在の開発の優先事項として社会保障の重要性を認識し、国際的枠組みに添った活動にして行く必要がある。

#### 結論

「薔薇はどんな名前で呼ばれようと、そのかぐわしい香りに変わりはない」(ウィリアム・シェークスピアの「ロミオとジュリエット」より)。

関係当事者の間で意味が混同されない限り、どんな用語が使用されるかは問題ではない。最終的に重要なことは現場の二一ズが持続可能な方法で対応されているか否かである。

この論文は、2019 年 7 月 2 日にモンゴルのウランバートルで 開催された、第 4 回アジア太平洋 CBID 会議で発表されたもの です。

## **CBR** to **CBID**

Dr. Maya Thomas

"The more things change, the more they remain the same" (Jean-Baptiste Alphonse Karr, 1808-1890)

#### Introduction

This paper provides some reflections on community-based rehabilitation (CBR) and community-based inclusive development (CBID), followed by the need and response in the field of disability and development over the last three decades. It goes on to discuss how some things remain the same, despite progress and change, and looks at some current and emerging issues that stakeholders need to be aware of, in future planning for inclusive development.

#### **CBR and CBID**

The term "community-based inclusive development (CBID)" seems to be increasingly used in place of "community-based rehabilitation (CBR)". After three Asia-Pacific CBR
Congresses, the fourth one this year is called the Asia-Pacific CBID Congress. The Declaration from the 3<sup>rd</sup> Asia Pacific CBR
Congress in Japan in September 2015 talks about
"Community-based Rehabilitation (CBR)/Community-based
Inclusive Development (CBID, also known as CBR).....". Some international donors are using the term "CBID" to describe their approach that encompasses health, education, livelihoods, social and empowerment, which are the components of the CBR Matrix. Others seem to be taking the position that CBR will focus on physical rehabilitation while CBID will address the social and environmental aspects.

This raises some questions – is CBID just a new term for CBR? Can the two terms be considered as synonymous? Should CBID be viewed as a much broader concept that should include all marginalised groups in a community and not just persons with disabilities? Does CBID mean that from the twin track approach that was being advocated earlier, we have moved to a single track – that of mainstreaming?

The WHO CBR Guidelines (2010) is titled "CBR Guidelines: Towards Community-based Inclusive Development", implying that CBR is a strategy to achieve inclusive development. The Preface to the Introductory booklet states that "The guidelines promote CBR as a strategy which can contribute to implementation of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, and of disability inclusive national legislation, and which can support community-based inclusive development."

In 2011, I have argued that "Community-based inclusive development is an aim or goal or an end result to be achieved—of making communities and society at large inclusive of all marginalised groups and their concerns, including persons with disability. The rationale is that no one should be excluded from development for any reason, be it gender, disability, ethnicity, refugee status, sexuality or any other issue. CBR is the tool or strategy to achieve the goal of community-based inclusive development for persons with disability, just as other interest groups in the community (gender, etc.), use their own strategies to make development inclusive of their constituents.

"CBR uses the principles of participatory community development—social justice, self—determination, participation and reflection—in an attempt to make development inclusive of all persons with disability. CBR uses a 'twin—track' approach to achieve the goal of community—based inclusive development:

1) Working with persons with disability to build their capacity, address their special needs, ensure equal opportunities and rights, and facilitate them to become self—advocates for their inclusion in all development processes. 2) Working with the community and society at large to remove barriers that exclude persons with disability, and ensuring that persons with disability have access to all development benefits in the same way as others in their community.

"In communities where there are different stakeholders working with different marginalised groups for the same goal of community-based inclusive development, CBR needs to build partnerships with those groups in order to maximise resources and opportunities, and to develop a bigger collective voice in advocating for inclusion. In communities where needs of other marginalised groups are unaddressed, CBR will need to consider how to include such groups in some of the activities like livelihoods, for example" (Thomas, 2011).

It is almost a decade since the publication of the CBR Guidelines, and there is an urgent need for greater debate on the need and rationale for the use of different terminology for

essentially the same activities that were being implemented in different countries, to avoid confusion and misinterpretation.

#### The need - 1981 to date

In 1981, the WHO Expert Committee on Disability Prevention and Rehabilitation had come up with recommendations for developing countries on providing rehabilitation within the context of community services, especially in relation to primary health care; and integrating rehabilitation into the national health care systems and other relevant sectors (WHO, 1981). The Committee emphasized the lack of access to rehabilitation in these countries, especially in rural and remote areas, and suggested community based rehabilitation, backed by referral and support systems, as one of the strategies to address the gaps. Challenges were also noted at that time, in terms of personnel, financing, technology, government policies and commitment, research and coordination among different sectors.

Over the three decades since, there has been much progress in developing countries, in terms of laws and policies, government support, coverage of services, human resource development, evidence based practice, and growth of organizations of persons with disabilities as self-advocates.

However, most of the challenges related to rehabilitation that were noted in 1981 continue, as documented in the World Report on Disability (2011). The Report has highlighted the fact

that persons with disabilities lag behind in education and employment, have less access to health care, tend to be isolated from social, cultural and political participation, and families with a disabled member experience higher rates of poverty. Some other recent studies have shown that the majority of persons with disabilities continue to live in poverty, in remote areas that have limited coverage of health and rehabilitation services. Poverty and the resultant poor health care, lack of access to health care, lack of awareness, poor hygiene and sanitation, and communicable diseases, continue to be the largest contributors to the causation of impairment and disability in these countries.

In 2017, the WHO meeting on "Rehabilitation 2030– A Call for Action", drew attention to the profound unmet rehabilitation need around the world, especially in low and middle income countries, and pointed out that the demand for rehabilitation services will continue to increase due to changing health and demographic trends related to ageing, disease and injury. The meeting came up with points for action to strengthen rehabilitation, many of which are similar to the 1981 recommendations.

In a similar vein, the Global Research on Developmental Disabilities Collaborators have recently published an article on developmental disabilities among children younger than 5 years in 195 countries and territories, between 1990 and 2016.

The study has highlighted the disproportionately high burden of development disabilities in low and middle income countries. and details the underlying causes of disabilities: refraction and accommodation disorders leading to vision loss; otitis media and congenital anomalies leading to hearing loss; congenital anomalies and neonatal disorders, including preterm birth complications, infections, and birth asphyxia leading to intellectual disability; and neonatal disorders leading to epilepsy. The study recommendations include the urgent need for identification of the major causes and effects of developmental disabilities in regions with the largest prevalence. especially those with low resources. The study concludes that "the global burden of developmental disabilities has not significantly improved since 1990, suggesting inadequate global attention on the developmental potential of children who survived childhood as a result of child survival programmes. particularly in sub-Saharan Africa and south Asia".

The Charter for Change from the Global Disability Summit held in the UK in July 2018 has 10 action points, two of which are relevant to the issue of childhood developmental disabilities. Point 8 states "Leave no one behind and put the furthest behind first. We will champion the rights of the most underrepresented and marginalised persons with disabilities, of all ages, affected by any form of multiple discrimination, and notably women and girls with disabilities", while point 9 is about "Gather and use better data and evidence to understand and address the scale, and nature, of

challenges faced by persons with disabilities, using tested tools including the Washington Group Disability Question Sets".

It is in this context that CBR becomes significant once again as a relevant response to ensure access to health care and rehabilitation by persons with disabilities.

The World Report on Disability (Chapter 3 on General Health Care) recognises the role of CBR in promoting and facilitating access to health care services for people with disabilities and their families in low-income and lower middle-income countries. The Report also recommends (Chapter 4 on Rehabilitation) that in low-resource, capacity-constrained settings, efforts should focus on accelerating the supply of services in communities through CBR, complemented with referral to secondary services.

Of the three objectives of the "WHO global disability action plan 2014–2021: Better health for all people with disability", the second one is about strengthening and extending rehabilitation, habilitation, assistive technology, assistance and support services, and community-based rehabilitation.

Experiences in countries in the Asia-Pacific region (for example, China, Vietnam, Laos, India) have shown that CBR can play a significant role in activities such as early identification and intervention, referrals and follow up at community level, providing home-based rehabilitation, organising educational, emotional and other support services for

persons with disabilities and their families and mobilising communities including local government. This is achieved through building a decentralised network of services and referrals from the community level upwards to provincial and national level, with support from government, civil society and organisations of persons with disabilities.

Past CBR experiences and lessons from different countries can help inform future practice related to "Rehabilitation 2030 – A Call for Action". Global stakeholders and governments will need to consider this in their planning for rehabilitation.

#### Vertical or horizontal?

When CBR was initially promoted thirty years ago, it was proposed to be integrated into the primary health care system as a vertical programme. Over the years, as CBR evolved, concepts like inclusion, participation and rights-based approaches became key goals; with this, CBR changed from a single-sector, vertical programme into a horizontal, comprehensive, multi-sector programme. The ILO, UNESCO and WHO Joint Position Paper (2004) captures this change well. Subsequently the CBR Matrix and CBR Guidelines (2011) of WHO, UNESCO, ILO and IDDC have illustrated the potential of CBR to grow into a comprehensive, horizontal programme.

The goal of inclusive development through the CBR strategy needs a comprehensive, horizontal programme; it cannot be reached through single sector, vertical programmes. Horizontal programmes need multiple resources in place, like government policy and budget support, infrastructure, trained personnel and materials, and mechanisms for multi-sector coordination. With such resources in place, horizontal programmes can be costeffective and sustainable. More importantly, horizontal programmes reach those in greatest need of services, as CBR programmes have demonstrated in low income countries by reaching persons with disabilities living in rural and remote areas and in urban poor communities. Management of horizontal programmes however, is complex due to the presence of multiple stakeholders from different sectors; and often the results may not be tangible or measurable. The paradox is that in low income countries where the need for horizontal programmes is greatest, the resources available to support such programmes are inadequate. In the context of CBR, many of the horizontal programmes that were running successfully for many years were sustained through support from external donors and not by country governments. With withdrawal of donor support, these programmes have either closed or scaled down, many into single sector programmes.

Of late it is observed that comprehensive CBR programmes in some countries are opting to focus on single sectors like education or livelihoods that are more like vertical programmes, largely due to differing donor priorities. Vertical programmes are attractive for donors because they demonstrate results faster and they are generally easier to manage than horizontal programmes, being more top-down and target-driven in nature.

However, they can be more expensive to maintain and sometimes may only provide short-term solutions.

While the horizontal and vertical approaches in relation to disability and development seem to be diagonally opposed to each other, there are now some debates around the possibility of merging these approaches, and the need for a 'diagonal' approach. In the context of CBR, this would mean starting with a vertical, single sector programme like education or livelihoods in a community, for which it may be easier to obtain funds. Subsequently, partnerships need to be developed with key actors in other sectors in the same community, including government and civil society stakeholders. There will be a need to educate stakeholders and partners across different sectors, along with donors, about the importance of CBR and inclusive development and the needed strategies for implementation, to ensure their on–going support.

Ideally, the choice of horizontal or vertical programmes should not be dictated by donor priorities, but by the needs of the community where a programme is being planned. Low and middle income countries have witnessed far too many programmes that have been donor—driven and unsustainable. CBR and inclusive development programmes can be in danger of going down the same road, unless key stakeholders like governments, organisations of and for persons with disabilities and donor groups can work together to ensure that the goal of

inclusive development is reached in a relevant and sustainable manner.

#### MDG to SDG

The Sustainable Development Goals Report (2017) reviews progress made towards the 17 Goals in the second year of implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. The report, based on the latest available data, highlights both achievements and challenges in full realization of the 2030 Agenda.

It is acknowledged in the Report that while considerable progress has been made over the past decade across all areas of development, the pace of progress observed in previous years is insufficient to fully meet the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and targets by 2030. In relation to some of the key indicators, it is stated that: "While nearly a billion people have escaped extreme poverty since 1999, about 767 million remained destitute in 2013, most of whom live in fragile situations. Despite major advances, alarmingly a high number of children under age 5 are still affected by malnutrition. In 2016, an estimated 155 million children under 5 years of age were stunted (low height for their age). Between 2000 and 2015, the global maternal mortality ratio declined by 37 per cent and the under-5 mortality rate fell by 44 per cent. However, 303,000 women died during pregnancy or childbirth and 5.9 million children under age 5 died worldwide in 2015".

According to the report, progress has not always been equitable; advancements have been uneven across regions, between the sexes, and among people of different ages, wealth and locales, including urban and rural dwellers. In his Foreword, the UN Secretary–General Antonio Guterres states that "Implementation has begun, but the clock is ticking. This report shows that the rate of progress in many areas is far slower than needed to meet the targets by 2030."

Earlier reports on progress of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) sounded very similar to the above, and that should be a cause of worry to governments and other stakeholders, particularly the people whom the SDGs are meant for. The key principle of the SDGs is "Leave no one behind". If the present pace of progress to achieve the SDGs is not sufficient, then it is likely that many marginalised groups of people, including persons with disabilities, will be left behind yet again.

It is hoped that the report will act as a spur to governments to increase their efforts and resources to realise the SDGs. Civil society groups, including organisations representing persons with disabilities, will need to focus on increased efforts to advocate for faster and more effective implementation of the SDGs.

#### The continued relevance of CBR

The World Report on Disability (2011) acknowledges CBR "as one of the significant responses to address concerns related to access to services, opportunities, participation and inclusion of persons with disabilities."

CBR Guidelines (2010) summarise outcomes of CBR: "increased independence, enhanced mobility, and greater communication skills for people with disabilities; increased income for people with disabilities and their families; increased self esteem and greater social inclusion."

Evaluation studies from different parts of the world have documented the role of CBR in transforming lives of persons with disabilities.

Some key lessons learnt during CBR implementation include the importance for a nodal ministry at the government level to coordinate national coverage of CBR and to promote multisectoral collaboration; collaboration between government and civil society in promoting comprehensive CBR programmes; linking of community level rehabilitation activities to existing primary health care systems; awareness raising and advocacy across different stakeholder groups at the time of inception of CBR programmes; promotion of self-help groups and associations of persons with disabilities; effective supervision, guidance and training of CBR staff at the

community level; and need to plan for coverage of CBR in a country in a phased manner (Thomas, 2015).

CBR experiences across the Asian region have highlighted some good practice in sustaining CBR. Self-help groups and associations of persons with disabilities, who are the primary stakeholders for CBR, can contribute to sustainability. Linking these groups with other successful community based organisations such as women's federations, can also be of help. Collaboration between local government, parents, and CBR staff has been reported to be successful in continuing some CBR activities; while including persons with disabilities into local level development councils can ensure that disability issues are included in development planning. Using community level volunteers (older, retired people who do not leave the community in search of employment) has been reported to contribute to sustainability, it is also reported that local volunteers, who gain prestige in the eyes of the community during the project implementation, often continue with and expand their activities even after project tenure ends.

# **Emerging issues**

Of late, there has been some debate on the emerging challenges that CRR will need to consider and deal with. Yuenwah (2012) lists some that are relevant to the Asia-Pacific region: rapid urbanisation, increased incidence of non-communicable diseases, disasters and climate

change, demographic transitions leading to increasing numbers of elderly persons, and economic challenges that can have an impact on poverty and food security.

#### Ageing

In some countries, older persons constitute a disproportionately large group among populations of persons with disabilities. On the one hand, better health care access has led to increased longevity for many persons with disabilities; and on the other, longevity in persons without disabilities has led to higher incidence of age-related and other disabilities in the elderly population. It appears that people aged 80 years and above constitute one of the fast growing age groups world-wide. All the challenges faced by persons with disabilities in low and middle income countries - barriers in access to services; low availability and affordability of needbased services, especially in rural communities; and lesser numbers of trained personnel - will be challenges for ageing persons with disabilities as well. The challenges are compounded by the fact that changes in traditional family structures have resulted in lower availability of care-givers and support systems in the community. In some low and middle income countries, population trends showing an increasingly ageing population has led to a situation where the younger people have to care for a disproportionately larger number of elderly persons in their families.

Addressing needs of elderly persons with disabilities, especially the varied health care and rehabilitation needs, can be cost—intensive. It is in this context that CBR programmes in low and middle income countries may be viewed as a possible cost—effective response to address the needs of older persons with disabilities in the community, since such programmes have many years of experience in working with families and communities in promoting inclusion and participation of children and younger adults with disabilities. In some countries, CBR programmes have already moved in this direction, for example, including elderly stroke survivors in home based rehabilitation activities, providing family education and counselling, and access to income generation.

# New Urban Agenda

The UN Habitat (2016) estimates that globally, cities today occupy approximately only 2% of the total land; however, they account for 70% of the GDP, over 60% of global energy consumption, 70% of greenhouse gas emissions and 70% of global waste.

Recognising the challenges associated with rapidly increasing urbanisation, stakeholders came together to adopt the New Urban Agenda in Quito, Ecuador, in October 2016. According to the Quito Declaration on Sustainable Cities and Human Settlements for All, "By 2050 the world urban population is expected to nearly double, making urbanization one of the 21st

century's most transformative trends. As the population, economic activities, social and cultural interactions, as well as environmental and humanitarian impacts, are increasingly concentrated in cities, this poses massive sustainability challenges in terms of housing, infrastructure, basic services, food security, health, education, decent jobs, safety, and natural resources, among others"

In one of the points under the Call for Action, the Quito Declaration states: "We recognize the need to give particular attention to addressing multiple forms of discrimination faced by, inter alia, women and girls, children and youth, persons with disabilities, people living with HIV/AIDS, older persons, indigenous peoples and local communities, slum and informal settlement dwellers, homeless people, workers, smallholder farmers and fishers, refugees, returnees and internally displaced persons, and migrants, regardless of migration status."

The 10th session of the Conference of States Parties to the CRPD was held from 13 to 15 June 2017, with the main theme of "The Second Decade of the CRPD: Inclusion and full participation of persons with disabilities and their representative organizations in the implementation of the Convention". The sub-themes were:

 Addressing the impact of multiple discrimination on persons with disabilities and promoting their participation and multi-stakeholder partnerships for achieving the SDGs in line with the CRPD;

- Inclusion and full participation of persons with disabilities in humanitarian action:
- Promoting inclusive urban development and implementation of the New Urban Agenda – Habitat III.

Much of the earlier available information on CBR and inclusive development is based on work in rural communities. Over the last 2 decades however, there have been reports from Asia and Africa of programmes working with people with disabilities in urban poor communities. Urban poor communities in low and middle income countries differ from their rural counterparts in many ways that have implications for planning and managing CBR and inclusive development activities.

Urban slums are largely comprised of migrants from rural areas, coming in search of employment. Such communities tend to be heterogeneous in nature, in terms of language, ethnicity and culture. Many groups are like a floating population due to seasonal migration or they may move from place to place within a city depending on where they find employment. While rural areas have a largely agrarian economy, urban slums have a preponderance of unskilled labour working in the informal or unorganised sector. Population density is high in urban slums, compared to the rural areas where it is sparse and people are scattered over large areas, sometimes at a great distance from each other. Unlike rural communities, urban slums have mainly nuclear families.

It has been reported that community organisation and mobilisation for CBR and inclusive development is more difficult in urban poor communities, because of their heterogeneous and transitory nature, existence of social problems, absence of extended family support and lack of formal or traditional structures and leadership. Often the priority need expressed by families in an urban CBR context is financial support.

Urban areas have better infrastructure, information and communication facilities compared to rural areas in low and middle income countries. There is also greater availability of services related to CBR such as education, healthcare, skills training and employment opportunities, but access to these services can be limited because of poverty and lack of awareness.

The New Urban Agenda recognises the need to address discrimination faced by persons with disabilities, along with other marginalised groups. Future CBR planning will require to be aware of and use frameworks like the Urban Agenda and Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) in planning, implementing and advocating for inclusive development.

### **Social Protection**

'Social protection' as defined by various international agencies like the World Bank, the International Labour Organisation and the Asian Development Bank among others, refers to policies and measures that help to reduce poverty and vulnerability, and

enable people to deal with the economic and social difficulties that they face throughout their lives.

Many countries have policies to provide social protection for people with disabilities and their families, either through programmes meant for the general population, or through specific programmes meant for them. In low and middle income countries, social protection policies for persons with disabilities have tended to view them as incapable of earning income, and therefore as objects of charity, in need of 'protection'. The policies tend to focus on providing a basic level of assistance to compensate for 'inability to work'. However, this can actually be a disincentive to seek employment, and only serve to perpetuate the charity and welfare approach towards persons with disabilities. Such a narrow view of social protection has been criticised by stakeholders in the disability movement who have advocated for a rights-based view that provides persons with disabilities with equal opportunities to enable their inclusion and participation in their communities.

It is in this context that the Convention on Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) has played a significant role in bringing about a broader understanding of social protection that is rights-based. According to Article 28 on 'Adequate standard of living and social protection' in the CRPD,

1. States Parties recognise the right of persons with disabilities to an adequate standard of living for themselves and their families, including adequate food, clothing and housing, and to

the continuous improvement of living conditions, and shall take appropriate steps to safeguard and promote the realisation of this right without discrimination on the basis of disability.

2. States Parties recognise the right of persons with disabilities to social protection and to the enjoyment of that right without discrimination on the basis of disability, and shall take appropriate steps to safeguard and promote the realisation of this right.

Along with other key rights such as access to health care, education, employment or living independently in the community, the right to social protection contributes to the empowerment of persons with disabilities, and to the realisation of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG).

The CBR Guidelines (2010) has recognised the importance of social protection and called for CBR to "facilitate the access of people with disabilities to mainstream or specific social benefits and promote the provision of social protection measures".

Globally however, coverage of social protection measures across populations is less than adequate. According to the "World Social Protection Report 2017/19: Universal social protection to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals", only 45 per cent of the global population is effectively covered by at least one social benefit, while the remaining 55 per cent, about 4 billion people, are left unprotected. The report states

that only 29 per cent of the global population enjoys access to comprehensive social security, while the other 71 per cent or 5.2 billion people are not, or only partially, protected. In relation to persons with disabilities, the findings of the report show that only 27.8 per cent of persons with severe disabilities worldwide receive a disability benefit. The report calls for increased government spending, especially in Africa, Asia and the Arab States, to provide at least some basic social protection for all.

Today, international agencies are focusing on social protection as one of the priorities in their policy frameworks on persons with disabilities. DFID's strategy for *Disability-inclusive Development 2018–2023*, has social protection as a strategic pillar, emphasising the need to advocate for more disability inclusive social protection systems, to increase the global and national focus on and support for disability inclusive social protection, and to build the evidence base around inclusive social protection and push for more data disaggregation.

In September 2019, the World Bank and the ILO, together with other leading development agencies, will meet during the 71st session of the UN General Assembly to present the Global Partnership for Universal Social Protection.

Stakeholders working with and for persons with disabilities, especially those involved in CBR and inclusive development programmes in low and middle income countries, need to be aware of the importance of social protection as a current

development priority and tailor their activities accordingly, in line with international frameworks.

#### Conclusion

"A rose by any other name would smell as sweet" (From William Shakespeare's 'Romeo and Juliet').

It does not matter what terminology is used, provided there is no confusion among stakeholders about what it means. Ultimately, what matters is whether needs on the ground are being addressed in a relevant and sustainable manner.

# 参考文献(References)

Asia Pacific Development Centre on Disability (2015). Thomas M (Ed). Good Practices on Community-based Inclusive Development in Asia and the Pacific.

(http://www.apcdfoundation.org/?q=content/community-based-inclusive-development-good-practices), accessed 19.6.19.

DFID (2018). DFID's Disability Inclusion Strategy 2018 to 2023. Policy Paper.

(www.gov.uk/government/publications/dfids-disability-inclusion-strategy-2018-to-2023), accessed 19.6.19.

Global Disability Summit, UK (2018). Charter for Change. (<a href="www.gov.uk/government/publications/global-disability-summit-charter-for-change">www.gov.uk/government/publications/global-disability-summit-charter-for-change</a>) accessed 19.6.19.

Global Research on Developmental Disabilities Collaborators (2018). Developmental Disabilities among Children Younger than 5 years in 195 Countries and Territories, between 1990 and 2016: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet Global Health, 6 (10): 1100–1121. (<a href="www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214">www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214</a>– 109X(18)30309–7/fulltext), accessed 19.6.19.

ILO (2017). World Social Protection Report 2017–2019. (<a href="www.ilo.org/global/about-the-">www.ilo.org/global/about-the-</a>
<a href="mailto:ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS\_601903/lang--en/index.htm">ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS\_601903/lang--en/index.htm</a>), accessed 19.6.19.

ILO, UNESCO, WHO (2004). CBR: A Strategy for Rehabilitation, Equalization of Opportunities, Poverty Reduction and Social Inclusion of People with Disabilities. Joint Position Paper, Geneva.

Thomas M (2011). Reflections on Community-based Rehabilitation, *Psychology and Developing Societies, 23 (2): 277-291.* 

United Nations (2006). *Convention on Rights of Persons with Disabilities*.

United Nations (2016). The New Urban Agenda. (www.habitat3.org/the-new-urban-agenda), accessed 19.6.19.

United Nations (2017). The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2017. (<a href="https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2017/">https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2017/</a>), accessed 19.6.19.

WHO (1981). Disability Prevention and Rehabilitation. Report of the Expert Committee on Disability Prevention and Rehabilitation. WHO Technical Report Series 668, Geneva. (<a href="http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/40896/1/">http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/40896/1/</a> WHO\_TRS\_668.pdf), accessed 19.6.19

WHO, UNESCO, ILO, IDDC (2010). *Community Based Rehabilitation: CBR Guidelines*. Geneva.

WHO, World Bank (2011). The World Report on Disability. Geneva.

Yuenwah, S. *Relevance of CBR for the Asia-Pacific Region* (2012). Disability, CBR and Inclusive Development, 23 (1): 7–13.

This paper was presented by Dr. Maya Thomas at the 4th Asia Pacific CBID Congress on July 2, 2019 in Ulaanbaatar in Mongolia.

# 著者紹介 マヤ・トーマス博士

# コンサルタント 「障害、CBRとインクルーシブ開発ジャーナル」

(www.dcidj.org)編集者

## リハ協ブックレット(1)

#### CBRからCBIDへ

発行: 2019 年 12 月 28 日 初版第 1 刷発行 頒価 500 円+税

著者:マヤ・トーマス

翻訳:河野宣之,上野悦子,寺島彰

発行者:福母淳治

発行所:公益財団法人 日本障害者リハビリテーション協会

〒162-0052 東京都新宿区戸山 1-22-1

電話: 03-5273-0601 FAX: 03-5273-1523

振替:00180-2-132429

https://www.jsrpd.jp